#### FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 12/31/2024 10:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/6/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

Case #: 1037651

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### NATHAN ROBERT NASH

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Court of Appeals No. 39322-4-III

Spokane County Superior Court Case No. 19-1-04462-32

Corey Evan Parker WSBA #40006 Attorney for Petitioner Washington Appellate Law Firm 1700 Seventh Ave., Ste. 2100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 357-8450 corey@washingtonappellatelawfirm.com

### **

#### A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Nathan Robert Nash ("Mr. Nash") is the Petitioner in this Petition for Discretionary Review. Mr. Nash, currently in the custody of the Department of Corrections, is serving a sentence for convictions of second- and third-degree rape, and asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision.

#### B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Mr. Nash seeks this Court's review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, in Case No. 39322-4-III, dated September 27, 2024, affirming Mr. Nash's convictions. A true copy of the Court of Appeals' decision is appended hereto as Attachment "A".

#### C. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Mr. Nash seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decisions pursuant to RAP 13.4 based on the following issues:

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPROPER JOINDER UNDER AN INCORRECT SET OF FACTS AND WITHOUT CONSIDERATION OF THE PARTICULARLY PREJUDICAL EFFECTS OF JOINING CHARGES OF A SEXUAL NATURE.

- 2. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE SUPPRESSION OF K.T.'S MENTAL HEALTH HISTORY BECAUSE IT DEPRIVED MR. NASH OF HIS RIGHT TO A DEFENSE.
- 3. WHETHER PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT SO INFECTED THE TRIAL AS TO DEPRIVE MR. NASH OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

#### D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### **Trial and Sentencing**

The State charged Mr. Nash with second degree rape, third degree rape, and official misconduct on November 26, 2019. (Clerk's Paper [CP] 1CP 6) The charges derived from allegations that Mr. Nash, while investigating a domestic violence complaint, committed acts against complainant T.P. on October 23, 2019. (1CP 8-9; McMaster VRP 75) The State would then move to join a second Information on August 5, 2021, involving allegations from complainant K.T for events he allegedly committed on July 6, 2019. (1CP 249; McMaster VRP 136)

In 2019, Mr. Nash was a patrol officer for the Spokane Police Department (SPD). (3 Weeks VRP 1349.) On July 5, 2019, K.T. contacted SPD claiming that her neighbor had assaulted her. Officer Nash and another officer responded to the call, but he observed no injuries and informed K.T. he would need to speak with her neighbor about the incident anyway. (2Weeks VRP 995; 3 Weeks VRP 996, 1347, 1381; Appellant's Opening Brief, 63) Mr. Nash did not have an SPD-issued business phone and gave K.T. his personal cellular phone number with directions to call if her neighbor returned since the neighbor was unavailable for an interview that day (this was a common practice among officers because many did not have their own business phones). (3 Weeks VRP 1342-43) Mr. Nash's Facebook profile was set to public at this time, and his public profile included pictures of him, his tattoos, and his family. (3 Weeks 1385-86)

12

The following day, on July 6, 2019, Mr. Nash was on patrol from 6:00 a.m. until 6:30 p.m. (3 Weeks VRP 1349). At approximately 3:00 p.m., SPD announced an officer-involved shooting over the police radios. (Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, 20; 3 Weeks VRP 1349-50)

At around 5:15 p.m. July 6, 2019, Mr. Nash returned to COPS NW (a place for officers to meet up and write reports) after his New World inter-officer chat feature had malfunctioned. (3 Weeks VRP 1350-52). Mr. Nash shut down the entire GPS program, remained at COPS NW for about an hour, or until around 6:20 p.m. (when his shift would end), and then he left to go home. (3 Weeks VRP 1352-5). He did not see K.T. that day. (3 Weeks VRP 1354).

On August 12, 2019, K.T. called Mr. Nash and asked him when he was going to arrest her neighbor for the alleged assault, and what Mr. Nash was "going to do for her as far as that situation." (3 Weeks VRP 1356; Appellant's Opening Brief, 64) Mr. Nash replied via phone call, and later reiterated in a text, that he intended to help her. (3 Weeks VRP 1385) By September 21, 2019, after numerous other texts of the same nature, Mr. Nash's wife asked him to block K.T.'s number, and Mr. Nash did so. (3 Weeks VRP 1358; Appellant's Opening Brief, 64-65)

K.T. suffers from a schizoaffective disorder, bipolar type, where she experiences mania, depression, and psychotic symptoms such as paranoid delusions and hallucinations. (3) Weeks VRP 1232-33; 1236) In March 2019, K.T. contacted a behavioral health center, believing that she was Jesus, that she was dead, and that she had transported herself into the future. (3 Weeks VRP 1237, 1240-41) By July 2019, the behavioral crisis center recorded that K.T. was once again struggling to discern reality from delusions. (3 Weeks VRP 1237, 1240-41) K.T. had made "105 calls to crime check and 911, and that record is replete with examples of her stating things that simply aren't occurring, and she had a long history of claiming her neighbor was assaulting her." (McMaster VRP 165) By August 2020,

K.T.'s condition continued to worsen, and she even peppersprayed an elderly neighbor (who relied on oxygen-assisted breathing) because she believed the elderly woman was stalking her; and K.T. was subsequently arrested for the incident. (1CP 509; McMaster VRP 166-68) In some calls, K.T. claimed that her arms were bruised and swollen, but officers investigating those allegations would find no injuries or evidence of the assaults she alleged. (McMaster VRP 167) K.T. was again treated in August 2020 for her disorder. (3 Weeks VRP 1249-50) But due to COVID restrictions in 2020, K.T. was treated via the phone, but doctors and psychiatrists made detailed and thorough notes about K.T.'s hallucinations and her continuing mental health struggles. (3 Weeks VRP 1230-32; 1235) K.T. continues to suffer from paranoid delusions especially focused on imagined assaults and was prescribed Zyprexas (an antipsychotic and mood stabilizer) and Zoloft (for panic and depression) to alleviate the symptoms. (3 Weeks VRP 1234-35, 1238).

In September 2020, K.T. learned from the news of rape allegations involving Mr. Nash. (3 Weeks VRP 1362-63, 1486-87). K.T. would again call Mr. Nash on September 26, 2020, only a month after her arrest for pepper spraying her elderly neighbor, and he placed his phone on speaker phone in front of his wife. (1CP 509, 512-13; 3 Weeks VRP 1361-62; Appellant's Opening Brief, 64) K.T. wanted to know if Mr. Nash would help her with her neighbor. (VRP 1362, 1386) Mr. Nash confirmed that allegations had been made and that he had been placed on unpaid administrative leave due to the allegations. (3 Weeks VRP 1362-63, 1486-87) But Mr. Nash said he was no longer a police officer, and he could not help her. (3 Weeks VRP 1363, 1386-87) On February 11, 2021, the State allowed K.T., in lieu of facing the third-degree battery charges against her neighbor, to attend the Spokane County Mental Health Diversion Program. (1CP 538-39)

K.T. called Mr. Nash once more in July 2021, but he missed her phone call. (3 Weeks VRP 1364) Soon thereafter,

she made an allegation of rape against him for the day of July 6, 2019. (3 Weeks VRP 1364) K.T. made these allegations two years after the alleged incident when, she once again, wanted 911 to investigate her neighbor.

In her allegations, K.T. claimed that on July 6th, 2019, Mr. Nash had returned to her apartment sometime in the morning hours, and that he had forcibly trapped her in her home by claiming that she could not be outside due to the officerinvolved shooting, and then raped her. (1CP 379-80, Appellant's Opening Br. 40). She also believed that her neighbor had colluded with Mr. Nash to get her raped. (3 Weeks VRP 1060). She also claimed he returned a month later in August of 2019 where they allegedly had consensual sexual intercourse. (3 Weeks VRP 1021, 1043). Neither of these things were true. (3 Weeks VRP 1340, 1360, 1365).

Back on October 15, 2019, another woman, identified as T.P., lived with her mother in a two-bedroom apartment. T.P. and her boyfriend had a domestic violence incident, to which

Officer Nash responded and took her statement. (1 Weeks VRP 452, 492) Mr. Nash called for a corporal to take photographs of any potential bruises and instructed T.P. to contact the YWCA or Crime Check with any future questions. (1 Weeks VRP 453-54) On October 23, 2019, T.P. noticed more bruising, attempted to contact domestic violence detectives, but they failed to return her call. (1 Weeks VRP 457, 2 Weeks VRP 536, 542) T.P.'s father called the SPD Headquarters and asked them to contact Mr. Nash specifically, and SPD told Mr. Nash to check up on T.P. (1Weeks VRP 447, 453-54, 457, 495-96, 506-07, 512-1; McMaster 171-73) Mr. Nash called T.P., who said she had taken some pictures of bruises and wanted them taken care of. (1 Week VRP 458-59; 461) T.P. alleged that "Mr. Nash said that he could take the photographs now, and T.P. suggested meeting at her apartment because she expected him to look at her bruises on the inside of her hip near the pubic region." (Appellant's Opening Brief, 28-29; 1 Weeks VRP 459, 494; 518) Mr. Nash agreed to her request to review the pictures she

had taken on her cell phone, and Mr. Nash suggested she meet him at the NW COPS shop where he was already heading. (CP 325-326, 3 Weeks VRP 1391). T.P. insisted Mr. Nash come to her apartment expecting that he would need to look at pictures of her bruises. (1 Weeks VRP 459, 494, 518). Before hanging up on the call, T.P. asked Mr. Nash if he could *not* activate his body camera once he arrived, and he agreed to her request. (3 Weeks VRP 1365-66).

While enroute to T.P.'s apartment on Oct. 23, 2019, Mr. Nash's New World GPS system had stopped transmitting data between 10:39 a.m. and 11:15 a.m., due to a GPS system issue on his own laptop that caused him to shut it down. (3 Weeks VRP 1392-93). This was a system issue the State's witnesses admitted was frequently a problem. (2 Weeks VRP 952-953, 955, 1077-78). Mr. Nash's initial GPS location showed him at COPS NW, and it came up once more around the Cenex/Zip Trip gas station, before it stopped transmitting between 10:39 a.m. and 11:15 a.m. when Mr. Nash arrived at T.P.'s apartment. (2 Weeks VRP 804, 811-12) Mr. Nash's cell phone location showed Mr. Nash at T.P.'s apartment at 10:52 a.m. (Appellant's Opening Brief, 48; 2 Weks VRP 808-09)

T.P. initially testified, at trial, that while Mr. Nash was observing her bruises that he had removed her pants and underwear. (2 Weeks VRP 465). However, T.P. admitted to previously telling investigators that she had removed her own pants and underwear under the guise of showing him a bruise on her lower right hip. (Appellant's Opening Br. 30-31) (See also 2 Weeks VRP 510-11).

T.P. further claimed that once her pants and underwear were pulled down that Mr. Nash stuck two fingers inside her vagina thrusting them in and out for thirty seconds to one minute, until she discontinued the physical contact with him by saying "okay, that's enough." (2 Weeks 465-66, 468, 470, 473-74, 521). That evening, T.P.'s father visited SPD to report the incident. (Appellant's Opening Brief, 35)

However, DNA forensic expert, Dr. Monte Miller, stated the evidence did not support the allegation as described by T.P.. (3 Weeks VRP 1303-16, 1329-30, 1335-37). Mr. Nash stated T.P. had pulled down her own pants and underwear, then maneuvered his hand toward her pubic region where the bridge of his finger came into contact with her private region for approximately one second (3 Weeks VRP 1366, 1394, 1396). Dr. Miller stated the DNA evidence showed proximity perhaps a brief hand-to-hand contact, but the absence of her DNA under his fingernails indicated a lack of penetration. (3 Weeks VRP 1303-16, 1329-30, 1335-37). This significant finding supported Mr. Nash's testimony. (3 Weeks VRP 1303-16, 1329-30, 1335-37).

After the alleged sexual assault, T.P. asked him to do her two favors. The first was to call her father regarding a domestic violence order protection violation, and the second was to retrieve a car key from her ex-boyfriend's mother's house where the October 15th domestic violence incident took place.

21

(CP 325-26, 2 Weeks VRP 535-39). Mr. Nash provided her with his personal phone number before leaving the apartment so she could check on the status of her follow-up requests later. (AOB 33, See also 1 Weeks VRP 477-78, 487-88, 2 Weeks VRP 516). After receiving his phone number, T.P. told him "[i]t was time for him to go" and escorted him out of the apartment. (1 Weeks 475-76, 2 Weeks VRP 520).

Mr. Nash was charged with the incident against T.P. Then, on August 5, 2021, the State moved to join the second Information with the first. (No. 21-1-01948-32; 1CP 249, McMaster VRP 136) The second Information included K.T.'s allegations, and the State argued that joinder was appropriate as permitting spillover evidence from both cases revealed a common scheme or plan and was not so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the potential for prejudice. (McMaster VRP 136, 138; 2CP 722-23.)

To aid its application for joinder of these two charges, the State offered the court a grid of "similarities" of the evidence it intended to proffer at trial. (1CP 265) The grid showed that (1) "Victim is the complaining party in a domestic violence call with alleged injuries"; (2) "Defendant responds to initial call as patrol officer with the Spokane Police Department"; (3) "Victim and Defendant had not met prior to Defendant's response to 911 call;" (4) "Defendant provides Crime Victim card with his phone number to victim;" (5) "Defendant has subsequent phone call with victim to arrange viewing her injuries at her home as part of a 'follow-up' for case;" (6) "Defendant is on-duty, armed and in uniform at time of 'followup' contact;" (7) "Defendant closed out of his New World Computer system prior to driving to victim's home so that his location cannot be tracked;" (8) "Defendant does not notify anyone in his agency via phone, computer or radio that he is responding to the victim's home;" (9) "Defendant is alone with victim in her home;" (10) "Defendant does not activate his department issued body camera at any time during contact," (11) Defendant begins viewing victim injuries;" (12)

"Defendant does not attempt to take any photos of or otherwise document victim injuries;" and (13) "Defendant uses physical closeness of purported injury examination to perpetrate sexual assault while armed and in uniform." (1CP 265) To justify its use, the State argued <u>State v. Kennealy</u>, 151 Wn. App. 861; 214 P. 3d 200 (2009), to validate its use of the grid by arguing such acts reinforced one another. (1CP 265-66)

Defense counsel opposed the joinder, pointing out that judicial economy can never supersede prejudice to a criminal defendant. (McMaster VRP 163; CP 320-321, 325-26, 379-80) Defense counsel stated that K.T.'s evidence included (1) that Mr. Nash responded to her complaint on July 5, 2019, about her neighbor and (2) "some circumstantial evidence." (McMaster VRP 163-64) Defense counsel insisted that the grid was highly inaccurate. (CP 320-21, 325-26, 379-80). For example, as to factor one: K.T. was involved in an alleged assault and not a domestic violence incident. (1CP 289) Defense counsel also objected to joinder because T.P.'s case had physical DNA evidence showing she and Mr. Nash at least had proximity, whereas no physical or phone satellite evidence existed in K.T.'s case to confirm Mr. Nash's presence. (Appellant's Opening Brief, 8-10; McMaster VRP 169-70)

Defense counsel also objected on the grounds that there was no common scheme or plan. (Appellant's Opening Brief, 9-10) As to factor five of the State's proposed grid of shared evidence, it was T.P.'s father, not T.P., who contacted Mr. Nash, through the police department headquarters indicating that the Police Headquarters would know Mr. Nash was at T.P.'s home. (1CP 265; McMaster VRP 171-73) As to factor eight, Mr. Nash's agency told, and was thus aware, that Mr. Nash was visiting T.P. for further inspection of her injuries. (1 CP 265) In K.T.'s case, Mr. Nash was simply never there on July 6, 2019. The prejudicial issue of joinder was only further complicated by K.T.'s description of when the alleged rape occurred, which was vastly different than what the State

claimed as merely corroborating circumstantial evidence. (3 RP 164, CP 320-21, 379-80). Moreover, T.P. did not have Mr. Nash's cellular phone number until after the alleged rap occurred—directly contradicting the State's grid. (1 CP 272, CP 325-326)

Defense counsel also objected to joinder because joinder would be highly prejudicial and asked for the cases to be tried separately. (AOB, 10; McMaster VRP 173-74) However, the trial court believed that the State's grid of "similar descriptions" of the evidence, including the presence (or lack thereof) of the New World GPS police vehicle tracking software, made both cases similar enough to permit the risk of prejudice. (AOB, 10; McMaster 180-81) The trial court also did not believe the jury would have trouble understanding the difference between the charges and their defenses as to K.T. and the T.P., and stated that it would offer limiting instructions for the jury to consider the distinctions. (AOB, 11; McMaster, 182-84) However, the trial court failed to give that important limiting instruction.

The trial court also raised its own Motion in Limine to limit introduction of K.T.'s mental health history and history of accusations as anything other than "some additional impeachment evidence" that did not "substantially change the nature between the similarities of the strengths of the evidence." (AOB, 10-11, 16; McMaster 182) The trial court used the State's "table of similarities," but added that it "independently verified that those comparisons were applicable and the Court, again, incorporate[d] [the grid] in articulating the similarities" between the two cases over defense counsel's multiple objections to the factual errors included in the grid. (McMaster 187-88; 191)

During the trial, the trial court excluded the "specifics of [K.T.] manifesting" her schizoaffective disorder, claiming that it was unsure if she was being sarcastic and that it would confuse the jury. (3 Weeks VRP 1259) Instead, the defense was limited to asking if there were "signs just in a general nature of her suffering from delusions in 2019." (3 Weeks VRP 1260-61)

27

This was despite Dr. Potter, K.T.'s psychiatrist, having already testified outside the presence of the jury that there was nothing to suggest she was being sarcastic, and in fact it was consistent with her delusional episodes. (3 Weeks VRP 1237, 1240-43)

Ultimately, the jury convicted Mr. Nash of third-degree rape as to T.P., and, as to K.T., the jury acquitted Mr. Nash of unlawful imprisonment but convicted him of second-degree rape. (3 Weeks VRP 1492; Appellant's Brief at p. 68)

#### The Appellate Proceedings

Following sentencing, Mr. Nash timely filed his direct appeal seeking reversal on the grounds that: (1) the trial court's granting the motion for joinder of the charges involving each complainant unduly prejudiced appellant by giving the appearance of propensity to commit sexual assault while on duty; and (2) the exclusion of evidence that K.T. had delusions that revealed false prior accusations was an abuse of discretion.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Nash's claims and affirmed his sentence. (See Attach. A.) The Court of Appeals

decided that the trial court's findings of fact were untouchable on appeal because the Appellant "did not assign error to any of the court's findings of fact[,]" (Slip op. at 11) The Court of Appeals further believed that in both cases, "evidence was comprised of statements from the alleged victims, as well as corroborating circumstantial evidence that Nash logged out of the location tracking software and turned off his body camera during the time the victims alleged that he contacted them." (Slip Op. at 12)

As to the potential prejudice of joinder, the Court of Appeals also stated that:

> "[w]hile we agree that a jury is less likely to believe that two women accusing Nash of similar misconduct are unstable, this is not the type of prejudice a court considers when deciding a motion for joinder. At the time of the motion for joinder, Nash did not demonstrate that his defenses were complex or antagonistic, or that he anticipated testifying in one case but not the other."

(Slip Op. at 13) (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals also found that, at the time of

joinder, Mr. Nash failed to provide evidence refuting the trial

court's factual conclusions on the cross-admissibility of the two charges. (Slip Op. 15-16) Finally, the Court of Appeals disagreed that the trial was required to, and subsequently failed to, consider the inherently prejudicial nature of joining multiple sex crimes into a single trial. (Slip Op. 16-17) The Court of Appeals likewise deemed the Appellant's argument for severance had not been timely renewed, so it was not preserved for consideration. (Slip Op. 8-9)

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