FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/27/2025 1:49 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### Supreme Court No. 103765-1 COA No. 39322-4-III

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

# NATHAN NASH, Defendant/Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Gretchen E. Verhoef Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

## **

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

The Court's also going to exclude any specifics about the type of contact between [K.T.] and Mr. Chapman, [K.T.'s neighbor,] and whether there's physical evidence to support her claims as to what occurred. She could be suffering some type of Schizoaffective disorder on July 5th when these acts occurred between [her] and Mr. Chapman. That doesn't mean on July 6th she was under the same type of condition. There would be speculation if that were the case. So any of the conflict between those two will be excluded except the general nature that there was a call regarding her neighbor, Mr. Chapman.

2RP 19-20.

However, the court permitted the defense to inquire about K.T.'s mental health, observing K.T. "may not have been suffering any of the symptoms of that condition on that date, but, apparently, there is medical documentation to show that perhaps she was, and there is expert testimony that would lay out exactly how that would reveal itself." 2RP 20-21.

At the conclusion of the pretrial hearing, defense counsel acknowledged he had not yet been able to speak to the treatment providers directly. 2RP 33. The court left open the potential that "further decisions" may need to be made on the admissibility of the mental health providers' testimony. 2RP 34. At no point during the motions in limine did defense counsel seek to procure a ruling on the admissibility of K.T.'s March 2019 statement that she was Jesus. 2RP at *passim*; RP 1239; CP 985.

K.T.'s mental health professionals did not engage in witness interviews outside of their sworn testimony. RP 1175.

The parties agreed to a hearing, outside the presence of the jury, to conduct their interviews mid-trial. RP 1175-76.

Relevant here, Dr. David Potter began treating K.T. on October 16, 2020; K.T. had been seen at Frontier Behavioral Health "off and on" since 2015; yet, Dr. Potter saw K.T. only four times over the phone due to Covid-19 protocols. RP 1232-33, 1235-36. Dr. Potter's case notes included no notes between April 25, 2019, and October 2020.<sup>4</sup> RP 1269. However, Dr. Potter noted that, in March 2019, K.T. had delusions and/or hallucinations about her neighbor, and believed she was Jesus, thought she was dead, and was transporting herself to the future; these comments occurred while K.T. was on the phone with a different provider. Potter could

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The rape involving K.T. was alleged to have occurred on July 6, 2019. RP 761, 996-997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This specific testimony was not heard by the jury.

not testify whether the Jesus comment was, in fact, a delusion, or whether K.T. was upset or sarcastic. RP 1242. Dr. Potter never observed K.T. suffering delusions. RP 1238.

At the conclusion of the midtrial hearing, defense counsel argued:

I think I should have the ability to at least get her diagnosis in, let the doctor explain what that means, as indicated here, what hallucinations mean, what delusions mean as he described here. And that's really my general intent.

... I really want to get into the diagnosis and what that means and in general terms was there any indication that she suffered from delusions and/or hallucinations between the dates that we have the records for.

#### RP 1254-55.

In response, the State agreed K.T.'s diagnosis was admissible but expressed concern with the admission of "specific instances" of K.T.'s conduct, especially the March 2019 Jesus comment. RP 1256-57. Defense counsel argued the Jesus

comment should be "fair game" without offering why it was legally admissible. RP 1257-58.

#### The court ruled:

As far as Dr. Potter is concerned, generally a witness's mental health diagnosis wouldn't be admitted because it is really not relevant if she has PTSD, OCD, anxiety or depression. Here it's because of the schizoaffective disorder that the Court has allowed. The way that that could manifest itself is to hallucinations and delusions. And if there were hallucinations or delusions that impacted what she perceived was occurring, the jury should know about that.

So the Court will allow Dr. Potter to testify about her diagnosis, when she was diagnosed, what she was diagnosed with and how those diagnoses, or the symptoms of those diagnoses and what may be used to treat those diagnoses. As far as the specifics of her manifesting those diagnoses, the Court's going to exclude that. I think, as can be seen in that telephone call, there really isn't any way to know whether she was just being sarcastic in the phone call or whether or not she really thought that she was Jesus and she was in the future. And then it becomes a secondary issue, which, again, would confuse the issues. Perhaps the State would bring her back in on rebuttal and start asking her questions about that particular incident.

Also, as far as her neighbor goes, she was continually talking about her neighbor during her testimony. Dr. Potter seemed to think that she had delusions about her neighbor causing her harm or something to that effect. I understand there's a third-degree assault charge.<sup>6</sup> I didn't look it up. I don't know what happened to that. I also understand she had at least a temporary anti-harassment order, and if the Court were to allow the portion about her neighbor to come in, then once again, we're going to confuse the issue and this trial is going to turn into whether or not her neighbor really was causing her problems or harming her or whether or not she was just having delusions of that.

So to simplify this, the Court will allow Dr. Potter to testify as to [K.T.'s] diagnosis, how that diagnosis might manifest itself and what's being done to possibly treat that diagnosis, again, it's somewhat outside of the time frame. He did indicate that it relates back to possibly 2015, but the real pertinent times here are July of 2019 and July of 2021, and it doesn't seem that she was seen by any of those providers exactly on those times, but rather since the beginning of 2021. I think he last saw her beginning of 2021. So that will be the limitation on that testimony.

RP 1258-60 (footnote added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> K.T. pepper-sprayed her neighbor. CP 975.

The jury acquitted Nash of second degree rape (count 1, victim T.P.), and unlawful imprisonment (count 4, victim K.T.). CP 766, 769. However, it convicted Nash of third degree rape against T.P. and second degree rape against K.T., finding the aggravating circumstance that he used a position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crime. CP 767-70. Based on the aggravating circumstance, the court imposed an exceptional upward sentence of 172 months to life for count 3. CP 851, 904-05.

### 3. Court of Appeals proceedings.

In his original briefing to the Court of Appeals, Nash claimed the trial court abused its discretion by granting joinder of the offenses and by limiting evidence of one victim's mental health condition. App. Br. at 69-89. Nash's assignments of error were: (1) "The joinder of the two unrelated cases unduly prejudiced appellant by giving the appearance of propensity to

commit sexual assault while on duty" and (2) "the exclusion of evidence that K.T. had delusions that could have led to prior false accusations was an abuse of discretion and constitutionally prejudicial." App. Br. at 7.

Nash's opening brief did not argue the trial court erred by denying his severance motion, even though his argument supporting his claim of error relied heavily on the evidence later introduced at trial. App. Br. at *passim*, Resp. Br. 54-56. His brief also failed to assign error to the trial court's separate ER 404(b) ruling, entered months after the joinder motion was granted, specifically finding the evidence surrounding each rape was cross-admissible to demonstrate a common scheme or plan. App. Br. at 1-2.

To prevail on the claims that were raised in the original briefing, the State argued Nash was required to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion, or that no reasonable judicial officer would have ruled as the trial court did. Resp. Br. at 48-80. The Court of Appeals found Nash had failed to meet this burden for either alleged error. Op. at 1, 7, 9, 17, 24-25. The Court of Appeals also found the trial court's findings of fact on the joinder motion were verities on appeal because Nash did not assign error to them. Op. at 11; *and see* Resp. Br. at 49-50, 57.

Notably, Nash's opening brief did not argue his constitutional rights were violated by either ruling. The State argued Nash's assignment of error, alleging a constitutional violation in the exclusion of some of K.T.'s mental health evidence, did not adequately analyze the issue, and, therefore, he had abandoned that claim. App. Br. at *passim*; Resp. Br. at 62-65. The Court of Appeals' opinion did not discuss any constitutional claim, instead confining itself to those arguments that were adequately raised and briefed by Nash. Op. at *passim*.

After the Court of Appeals affirmed Nash's convictions, he filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing claims of constitutional error for the first time, and claiming error in the trial court's factual findings entered after its joinder ruling. *See e.g.*, Mot. for Recon. at 6, 10, 14, 33-35, 36-42. The State responded, arguing a motion for reconsideration was too late to raise new arguments. Resp. to Motion for Recon. at *passim*. The Court of Appeals denied the motion to reconsider. Order Denying Recon. (Dec. 3, 2024). Nash has filed a petition for review.

#### V. ARGUMENT

This Court should deny Nash's petition for review. Nash raises new issues and arguments for the first time in his petition and fails to demonstrate any of the RAP 13.4 criteria support this Court's grant of review.

# 1. Nash's petition fails to demonstrate any of the RAP 13.4 criteria has been met.

Although Nash recognizes RAP 13.4's considerations govern whether this Court should grant review, Pet. for Rev. at 32, his petition fails to meet any of those criteria.

This Court accepts a petition for review only where a petitioner demonstrates at least one of the following RAP 13.4(b) considerations has been met: (1) the decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court; (2) the decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question under the Washington or federal constitution is involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Nash alleges his petition meets RAP 13.4(b)(3) and/or RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. for Rev. at 32. His constitutional questions, however, were not raised in the trial court or in his original

briefing to the Court of Appeals, and he fails to demonstrate how his petition involves any issue of substantial public interest.

# 2. This Court should not accept a petition that raises issues not litigated below.

New issues may not be raised for the first time in a petition for review. *See Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998); *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

Here, Nash raises multiple constitutional claims he did not raise in the trial court or in his opening brief, including an alleged violation of his right to present a defense. He also raises, for the first time in his petition for review, a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, alleging the State presented "false evidence" at trial; he advances this claim because some testimony at trial differed from the facts alleged in the probable cause affidavits supporting the State's motion for joinder. Pet. at 73-77. To the extent that he wishes to raise these issues, his recourse is to file a personal

restraint petition, not to raise them for the first time in a petition for review.

3. Nash fails to demonstrate any of the RAP 13.4 criteria for the two claims he properly preserved in the trial court and adequately argued in his opening brief below.

Nash's opening brief to the Court of Appeals adequately briefed two issues – whether the trial court erred by granting joinder and by excluding some of K.T.'s mental health issues – two claims subject to review for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Bluford*, 188 Wn.2d 298, 310, 393 P.3d 1219 (2017) (review of a court's decision granting joinder is for abuse of discretion, and trial courts have "considerable discretion" in this area); *State v. Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d 53, 59, 502 P.3d 1255 (2022) (evidentiary rulings are subject to abuse of discretion review). Those rulings are subject to reversal only if the trial court's decision was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons; in other words, the decision is subject to

reversal only if the trial court adopted a position that no other reasonable jurist would take. *Jennings*, 199 Wn.2d at 60; *State v. Lord*, 161 Wn.2d 276, 283-84, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007).

As to the trial court's joinder ruling, Nash's opening brief never assigned error to the trial court's findings of fact; they are therefore verities on appeal. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994).

In reviewing a pretrial joinder motion, this Court only reviews those facts known to the trial court at the time of the motion, and a trial court cannot abuse his or her discretion based on facts that do not yet exist or may develop later during the course of trial. *Bluford*, 188 Wn.2d at 310. When considering a pretrial joinder motion, the court should "balance the *likelihood* of prejudice to the defendant against the benefits of joinder in light of the particular offenses and evidence at issue." *Id*. (emphasis added).

Here, Nash's allegation that some of the facts that were presented during the joinder motion were not borne out during trial is the very reason that a defendant must seek severance once cases are properly joined. "[W]hen a court considers a pretrial motion to sever, it is generally considering the *potential* for prejudice. The purpose for the requirement for renewal [of a severance motion during trial] is to give the court an opportunity to assess whether there is *actual* prejudice based on the evidence presented or proffered" during trial. State v. McCabe, 26 Wn. App. 2d 86, 94-95, 526 P.3d 891 (2023) (emphasis added). Testimony that is not yet known to the court at the time it rules on a severance motion "is not relevant to [this Court's] review for prejudice." Id. at 96. Nash did not reraise his severance motion during trial, waiving any claim that the evidence developed during trial (and not as predicted prior to trial) resulted in prejudice. No constitutional issue is involved in this claim and it is not subject to review as a matter of substantial public interest – it is well-settled that prejudice is measured only by the evidence known to the court at the time it considers joinder or severance. *Bluford*, 188 Wn.2d at 310.

Similarly, Nash's opening brief in the Court of Appeals argued only evidentiary error in the trial court's exclusion of some of K.T.'s mental health history. That evidentiary ruling is not subject to RAP 13.4(b)(3), as it is not a constitutional question. Nash also fails to establish how the evidentiary claim presents a question of substantial public importance such that this Court should grant review. The trial court was within its discretion to exclude some evidence of K.T.'s mental health disorder where the only witness offered to testify to her Jesus comment had not actually heard the statement, was not treating K.T. at the time the statement was made, and where the admission of the statement could confuse the issues. ER 403.

The numerous issues raised in Nash's petition exceed those raised in the trial court or adequately argued in the Court of Appeals. It is too late for Nash to raise them in his petition for review. As to the issues adequately raised and argued in the trial court and Court of Appeals, those rulings were subject to reversal only where the trial court abused its discretion, which Nash has failed to demonstrate. Nash's petition does not meet either RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (b)(4), and, therefore, this Court should decline review.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondent requests the Court deny the petitioner's request for review.

This document contains 3,643 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.